
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. __________________

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit corporation, 

Plaintiff,

v.

DAVE & BUSTER’S, INC. a Missouri Corporation,

Defendant.
                                                                                                                                                      

COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                       

Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, by and through its attorneys, Kevin W.

Williams and Carrie Ann Lucas, both with the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition Legal

Program, hereby brings this Complaint against Dave & Buster’s Inc. (“D&B”).

INTRODUCTION

1. D&B owns and operates two Dave & Buster’s restaurant/entertainment

complexes in Colorado, one in Denver and one in Westminster.

2. Both complexes were designed and constructed after the passage of the

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.

3. Despite the passage of the ADA over sixteen years ago, D&B failed to design and

construct its entertainment complexes so they are readily accessible to and usable by people who

use wheelchairs.  For example, in the bar area, there is no accessible portion of the bar and no

accessible tables at which a person using a wheelchair can sit.  Other service counters in Dave &
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*Buster’s are too high for persons in wheelchairs to use.  Other ADA violations exist at Dave &

Buster’s.

4. The Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) contacted the management of

D&B by certified letter, explaining the ADA requirements and requesting that D&B bring their

bars into compliance.  D&B never responded.  They ignored CCDC’s invitation to resolve this

matter without litigation and have done nothing to correct the ADA violations.

JURISDICTION

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343 and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the laws of

the State of Colorado.

6. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

7. Plaintiff  CCDC is a Colorado non-profit corporation whose members are persons

with disabilities and their nondisabled allies.

8. Defendant D&B is a Missouri corporation with its principal place of business at

2481 Manana Drive, Dallas, Texas, 75220.  

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

9. D&B itself or through its subsidiary owns and operates two Dave & Buster’s

restaurant/entertainment complexes, located at 2000 South Colorado Boulevard, Denver,

Colorado, 80222, and 10667 Westminster Boulevard, Westminster, Colorado 80020-4174,

respectively.
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10. According to D&B’s web site:

Dave & Buster’s was founded in 1982 and is headquartered in Dallas, Texas.  Dave &
Buster's now operates 46 large venue, high-volume restaurant/entertainment complexes
throughout the United States that offer a food and fun-filled experience to adults and
families.  The exciting environment of the Dave & Buster’s complex contributes to each
guest’s experience and also provides the perfect setting for corporate and group events. 

11. D&B’s restaurant/entertainment complexes provide, among other things, a

restaurant, bars, and multiple game areas, including pool tables, arcade games, shuffle board

tables, and interactive and video games.  Dave & Buster’s complexes are open to the public and

charge customers for playing games and for food and drinks.

12. The Dave & Buster’s complex in Denver has two bars, the Midway Bar and the

Viewpoint bar.  About the bars, D&B advertises on its web site:

The Viewpoint Bar is the perfect laid back atmosphere to hang out with co-workers at the
end of the day or catch up with friends on a night out. Come here to cheer on your
favorite sports team by watching the big game on our 20-screen video dome. 

The Midway Bar is located in the heart of the Midway and all of its games. Take a break
at the Midway Bar, refill your drink and dive right back into the action. 

See http://www.daveandbusters.com/Bars/.

13. In the Denver Dave & Buster’s, the Viewpoint Bar is separated from the

restaurant.  It is elevated and accessible by stairs or a ramp.  The Viewpoint Bar has many

televisions.  The restaurant does not.  The decor and services are different in the bar area from

the restaurant.  The height of the bar counter exceeds thirty-four inches, and there is no lower

portion that is accessible to people who use wheelchairs.  There are no accessible tables in the

Viewpoint bar area.
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14. At the Denver Dave & Buster’s, there is designated accessible parking in the

parking lot nearest the building entrance, and some of the spaces are marked “Van Accessible;”

however, these spaces do not have the required eight feet wide access aisle.

15. In the Denver Dave & Buster’s, the Midway Express Bar on the upper level near

the Winner’s Circle has a counter which exceeds thirty-four inches.  There is no lower portion of

the counter.  There are no accessible tables in the Midway Express Bar area.

16. The Westminster Dave & Buster’s has no accessible parking near the business

entrance.

17. In the Westminster Dave & Buster’s, the Viewpoint Bar is separated from the

restaurant.  It is elevated and accessible by stairs or a ramp.  The Viewpoint Bar has many

televisions.  The restaurant does not.  The decor and services are different in the bar area from

the restaurant.  The height of the bar counter exceeds thirty-four inches, and there is no lower

portion that is accessible to people who use wheelchairs.  There are no accessible tables in the

Viewpoint bar area.

18. Although there are wheelchair ramps throughout both Dave & Buster’s, some of

these ramps are difficult to find, and there is no signage indicating their location.

19. In both Dave & Buster’s, there is a room called the “Show Room.”  The main

entrances are accessible only by stairs.        

20. In both Dave & Buster’s, there is a room called the “Winner’s Circle.”  Both are

difficult for persons in wheelchairs to get around in because display cases and merchandise block
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accessible routes and access to merchandise on fixed shelving.  Also, the areas marked “exit”

have turnstiles, which are not accessible to people who use wheelchairs

21. Other service counters in both Dave & Buster’s exceed thirty-four inches in

height.

22. D&B uses queue lines at Dave & Buster’s to cause people to line up for games

and events.  These queue lines are not accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs.

23. CCDC members who use wheelchairs have experienced these and other

discriminatory conditions at both Dave & Buster’s.

24. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not

encounter discrimination in -- public accommodations such as Dave & Buster’s

restaurant/entertainment complexes.  

25. CCDC’s members include individuals with disabilities and their friends, relatives

and allies who go to Dave & Buster’s to play the games, eat at the restaurant or eat or drink or

watch sporting events at the bar.

26. CCDC’s members have been injured and will continue to be injured by

Defendant’s discrimination described above.

27. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendant, and the integration

of persons with disabilities into the community are at the core of CCDC’s organizational

purpose.
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28. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.  

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

29. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

30. D&B owns, operates two Dave & Buster’s restaurant/entertainment complexes

and is therefore a place of public accommodation as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7).

31. Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiff and its members on the basis of

disability.  Defendant’s discriminatory conduct includes but is not limited to:

a. Discriminatory exclusion from and/or denial of goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, accommodations, and/or opportunities; 

b. Provision of goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, and/or

accommodations that are not equal to those afforded non-disabled

individuals; 

c. Failing to design and construct facilities for first occupancy later than 30

months after July 26, 1990, that are readily accessible to and usable by

individuals with disabilities.

32. As such, Defendant discriminates and, in the absence of the injunction requested

herein, will continue in the future to discriminate against Plaintiff on the basis of disability in the

full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages,
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accommodations and/or opportunities of its Dave and Buster’s restaurant/entertainment

complexes in violation of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et

seq., and/or its implementing regulations.

33. Plaintiff has been damaged and will continue to be damaged by this

discrimination.  

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act)

34. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth above as

if fully set forth herein.

35. The Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act prohibits any public facility of any kind

from denying an individual or a group on the basis of disability equal enjoyment of its goods,

services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601.

36. Defendant owns and operates two Dave & Buster’s restaurant/entertainment

complexes in Colorado, which are places of public accommodation as that term is defined in

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1). 

37. The Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act is to be construed consistently with the

ADA and other federal civil rights statutes.  3 Colo. Code. Reg. 708.60.1(c).

38. Defendant has violated the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act by denying

individuals and groups with disabilities the benefits of its Dave & Buster’s

restaurant/entertainment complexes through, without limitation, failing to provide access to the

bar areas, failing to provide accessible parking and failing to provide accessible service counters.
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39. Under the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act, for every offense committed by the

Defendant, it shall forfeit and pay a sum of not less than fifty dollars nor more than five hundred

dollars to the persons aggrieved thereby.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-602.

40. Defendant’s violations of the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act have harmed

Plaintiff and CCDC’s members who have attempted to patronize Dave and Buster’s Colorado

restaurant/entertainment complexes.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. That this Court issue an order declaring the Defendant to be in violation of the

Americans with Disabilities Act and the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act;

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering the Defendant to bring its Colorado

Dave & Buster’s restaurant/entertainment complexes into compliance with, and to operate Dave

& Buster’s in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and the Colorado Anti-

Discrimination Act; 

4. That this Court award damages to CCDC and its members aggrieved by

Defendant’s violations of the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act;

5. That this Court award Plaintiff its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND: Plaintiffs demand a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.
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Respectfully submitted,

/s Kevin W. Williams     
Kevin W. Williams

    Legal Program Director
Carrie Ann Lucas
  Equal Justice Fellow
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO  80203
Telephone: 303.839.1775
Facsimile: 303.839.1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdonlinwe.org

Dated: October 3, 2006 Attorneys for Plaintiff

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross Disability Coalition:

655 Broadway
Suite 775
Denver, CO  80203
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